STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

May 26 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Sumter County

Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

RICARDO DARGAN,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2019-001557

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

WANDA H. CARTER
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Trial counsel erred in advising petitioner to end his trial and plead guilty to the lesser offense of voluntary manslaughter after the trial judge denied immunity at the close of a pre-trial Castle Doctrine hearing because the jury had already been selected for trial and there was evidence in existence in the case to support self-defense, the defense of accident, and the lesser offense of involuntary manslaughter if he had he elected to continue with his jury trial.

STATEMENT

Petitioner Ricardo Dargan pled guilty to voluntary manslaughter and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime¹ and three counts of distribution of crack cocaine during the October 2016 term of the Sumter County General Sessions Court before Judge Robin B. Stillwell and was sentenced to imprisonment for an aggregate period of twenty years. App. 71-90. Petitioner was represented by Timothy Lee Griffin at the plea proceeding, and Assistant Solicitor Bronwyn M. McElveen appeared on behalf of the state. Petitioner appealed, but the case was dismissed due to trial counsel's failure to properly execute the notice of appeal.

On July 5, 2017, petitioner filed a PCR application with the Sumter County Office of the Clerk of Court. App. 92-106. The respondent filed a return dated June 1, 2018, requesting that a hearing be held in response to petitioner's PCR action. App. 107-114.

A PCR hearing was held on July 30, 2019, at the Sumter County Courthouse before Judge Brooks P. Goldsmith. App. 116-193. Petitioner was present at the hearing and represented by James K. Falk, and Assistant Attorney General Janell H. Gregory appeared on behalf of the state.

On August 28, 2019, Judge Goldsmith issued an Order of Dismissal (which was filed on September 6, 2019) therein denying petitioner's allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel in the case. App. 195-212. Petitioner appealed. This appeal follows.

¹ Petitioner was indicted on a murder charge, but pled guilty to voluntary manslaughter. App. 219-220.

ARGUMENT

Trial counsel erred in advising petitioner to end his trial and plead guilty to the lesser offense of voluntary manslaughter after the trial judge denied immunity at the close of a pre-trial Castle Doctrine hearing because the jury had already been selected for trial and there was evidence in existence in the case to support self-defense, the defense of accident, and the lesser offense of involuntary manslaughter if he had he elected to continue with his jury trial.

The case at bar came about after petitioner and David Clea were involved in a street race where the winner would take \$1,000.00. Petitioner and Clea contributed \$500.00 each to the total. When petitioner asked Clea for money after the race ended, a struggle between the two ensued and a gun that belonged to Clea surfaced. The two struggled over the gun, and the gun fired. Clea ended up with a gunshot wound. Before petitioner pled guilty, a jury was selected in anticipation of a trial, and a Castle Doctrine (Immunity) pre-trial hearing was held. The state alleged that the shooting took place in front of state's witness Heyward's residence and that petitioner produced a weapon there, but petitioner denied this. App. 79, l. 13 – p. 69, l. 25.

During the pre-trial hearing, petitioner described the events as they unfolded in the case. Petitioner testified that on the night in question, he and Clea were arguing over the money that Clea owed him, and that although he and Clea were car racing and he (petitioner) lost the race, there was still money that Clea owed him apparently regardless of the outcome of the race. Petitioner stated that even though he and Clea had been drinking, it was Clea who produced a gun after the race as they argued. Petitioner stated that he believed he was in danger so he grabbed the wrist of Clea's hand that held the gun because he knew Clea would shoot him. Petitioner stated that after he grabbed Clea's wrist, the gun started going off into the ground. Petitioner added that he never had a gun in his possession on that night. Petitioner explained that

as the two of them tussled over the gun, it was Clea who was shot in the leg. Petitioner stated that he asked for the money Clea owed him, and that the fight ensued after Clea said he (petitioner) would get the money in blood and then Clea pulled out a gun, and that it was Clea who said “I got something for you.” Petitioner stated that Clea was trying to shoot him with the gun and that he (petitioner) was trying to grab the gun by the back and force it into the ground. App. 36, 1.14-p.44, 1.12.

Thomas Wilson stated that he went away before the shooting started. Wilson admitted that he did not witness the shooting, but stated that he did witness the two men arguing and that he saw petitioner with a gun. App. 48, 1.15-p.52, 1.11.

Marcia Heyward testified at the pre-trial hearing and explained that after petitioner lost the race, he wanted his money back; but when Clea refused to pay, then petitioner pulled out a gun and started to shoot, and ultimately Clea was shot. App. 53, 1.21-p. 61, 1.7.

At the close of the pretrial hearing, the trial court judge denied immunity relief in response to petitioner’s Castle Doctrine. App. 65, 1;6-p.66, 1.25.

During the PCR hearing, petitioner testified that Clea owed him more than what the race money totaled as there was a prior dealing before the race that included three times the money Clea owed him. Petitioner stated that Clea brought the gun to the fight, and they struggled and the gun went off; and in effect that Wilson’s and Hayward’s testimony had not been accurate. Hayward and Wilson gave conflicting and disputed testimony as juxtaposed to petitioner’s testimony. App. 120, 1.20-p.131, 1.8. Petitioner stated that his trial attorney presented the offer of a plea deal after the immunity hearing ended in the denial of relief via the Castle Doctrine. App. 131, 1.12-20; App. 132, 1.21-p.133, 1.3. Petitioner stated that since he turned down the first fifteen-year plea bargain and then ended up with an aggregate twenty-year sentence after he pled

guilty to the charges, then he should have continued on with the trial in his case because he wanted to prove his innocence. App. 132, 1.9-20, App. 135, 1.4-13; App. 136, 1.14-p.137, 1.23. Petitioner maintained that he never brought a gun to the scene. App. 139, 1.15-20.

Trial counsel testified during the PCR hearing and stated that he believed that there was little chance for a self-defense charge per the denial of immunity under the Castle Doctrine. App. 151, 1.7-p.156, 1.21. Apparently, counsel believed in the possibility of receiving involuntary and voluntary manslaughter instructions in the event that the case had gone to trial, but stated that he did not explore an accident defense. App. 159, 1.20-p.160, 1.16.

The PCR judge ruled that counsel challenged the state's case via the immunity hearing, which in effect clarified and supported the state's theory of the case and thus, petitioner failed to establish his burden of proving prejudice along with his claims against counsel. App. 205-206.

Conflicting testimony is no reason to abandon defenses in a case. Although Hayward and Wilson gave different accounts regarding the possessor of the gun, petitioner testified that he did not arm himself with a gun, but rather it was Clea who brought the gun to the fight. It appeared as though counsel believed the eyewitnesses more than his own client. App. 163, 1.9-p.165, 1.19. Nonetheless, counsel neglected to consider three important points of law, i.e. that the law to be charged is determined from the evidence presented at trial (State v. Lee, 298 S.C. 362, 380 S.E.2d 834 (1989)), and that a jury can believe or disbelieve evidence in whole or in part (State v. Johnson, 236 S.C.207, 113 S.E.2d 540 (1960)), and that the state has to disprove elements of self-defense (State v. Wiggins 330 S.C. 538, 500 S.E.2d 489 (1998)). Therefore, trial counsel erred in summarily deciding that since the trial judge denied immunity under the Castle Doctrine, then there was little chance that a self-defense charge or any other defense charge, such as an

accident charge, or lesser charge would be granted because petitioner's testimony would have supported the same.

In order to establish self-defense, the defendant must have been without fault in bringing on the difficulty and was or believed he was in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, which a reasonably prudent person would have so believed, and he had no other means of avoiding the danger. State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 317 S.E.2d 452 (1984). Also, depending on the circumstances, words accompanied by hostile acts may establish self-defense and one has a right to act on appearances. State v. Fuller, 297 S.C. 440, 377 S.E.2d 328 (1989). Moreover, when a one claims self-defense, the state is required to disprove the elements of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Wiggins, 330 S.C. 538, 500 S.E.2d 4 89 (1998); State v. Williams, 400 S.C. 308, 733 S.E.2d 605 (2012). Based on petitioner's account, clearly it is likely that he would have received a self-defense charge had he chosen to continue with his jury trial.

Also, since petitioner was acting lawfully in self-defense, then a charge of involuntary manslaughter would also have been supported by the evidence and likely charged had he chosen to continue with his jury trial. Involuntary manslaughter is the unintentional killing of another without malice while engaged in a lawfully activity (self-defense) with reckless disregard for the safety of others. State v. Cabrera-Pena, 361 S.C. 372, 605 S.E.2d 522 (2004); State v. Smith, 391 S.C. 408, 706 S.E.2d 12 (2011).

Furthermore, petitioner would likely have received a charge on the law of accident had he opted for a trial. In order for a homicide to be excusable on the ground of accident, it must be shown that the killing was unintentional, and that the defendant was acting lawfully, and that due care was exercised in the handling of the weapon. State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 513 S.E.2d 104 (1999).

Trial counsel's forfeiture of the presentation of all of petitioner's defenses at trial and the possibility of receiving lesser charges where a jury had already been selected in the case due to the rejection of his pre-trial denial of immunity request via the Castle Doctrine constituted error and deficient representation under the Sixth Amendment; and but for this ineffective legal assistance, a reasonable probability exists that petitioner would have continued on with this jury trial option and there was a reasonable probability that the outcome of his case would have been different.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument, counsel for petitioner would request that the Court grant the petition and allow full briefing on the above-raised issue.