STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Oct 08 2020

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Sumter County
Robin B. Stillwell, Plea Judge
Brooks P. Goldsmith, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2019-001557

RICARDO DARGAN,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court properly found Petitioner failed to establish any constitutional deprivations entitling him to post-conviction relief, where counsel properly advised Petitioner of his likelihood of conviction at trial and possible sentences following the denial of his pre-trial immunity hearing based on the Protections of Persons and Property Act (S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410 et seq.) and Petitioner made a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent decision to forgo trial and plead guilty to the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter.

On appeal, Petitioner asserts the post-conviction relief court erred by finding counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for advising Petitioner to end his trial and plead guilty because the jury had been selected and there was evidence to support various defenses and lesser-included offenses if he had continued forward with trial. Specifically, Petitioner argues evidence supported self-defense, accident, and involuntary manslaughter and counsel was constitutionally ineffective for advising Petitioner to accept the State's plea offer rather than continue forward with his trial and pursue these defenses and lesser-included offenses. However, the record firmly establishes counsel, after a full investigation and review of all discovery, proceeded forward to an immunity hearing, where numerous witnesses testified consistently and "very, very credibly" that Petitioner was the aggressor who shot Clea over a financial dispute, then stole money and fled the scene. The record established that after this hearing and the denial of immunity, counsel advised Petitioner he would likely be convicted at trial based on the credible evidence the State would present and advised Petitioner it was in his best interest to accept the State's plea offer to the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. Moreover, the record firmly establishes Petitioner knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily entered his guilty plea with the advice of competent counsel to avoid all but certain conviction at trial in light of the credible and convincing testimony presented at the immunity hearing and Petitioner's desire to avoid a mandatory minimum term of thirty years' imprisonment if convicted a trial. The post-conviction

relief court properly determined counsel was not constitutionally ineffective in his representation of Petitioner and Petitioner's plea was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by the record. This Court should deny certiorari.

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution guarantee Petitioner, like all other defendants, the right to effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Taylor v. State, 404 S.C. 350, 359, 745 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2013). In a post-conviction relief action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations by a preponderance of the evidence—a mere allegation of ineffective assistance is not sufficient to warrant granting relief. Rule 71.1(e), SCRCP; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The reviewing court applies the two-part test outlined in Strickland to determine whether counsel's conduct “was so ineffective as to require reversal” of the applicant's conviction or sentence. 466 U.S. at 687. First, the applicant must show that counsel's performance was deficient; and second, that the deficient performance prejudiced the applicant. Id. at 668; Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

Because the Sixth Amendment right to counsel also applies to a defendant entering a guilty plea, Hill v. Lockhart extended the two-part Strickland test to challenge guilty pleas based on ineffective assistance of counsel.” Hill, 474 U.S. 52; cf. Padilla, 559 U.S. at 373 (recognizing the guilty plea process is a “critical phase of litigation” for purposes of the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel). A claim of ineffective assistance of guilty plea counsel requires the applicant present evidence satisfying two prongs: first, evidence that counsel's performance was deficient; and second, evidence that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defendant by causing him to plead guilty rather than go to trial. Hill, 474 U.S. 52.

When reviewing a guilty plea, the analysis of counsel's performance under the first prong

of Strickland remains unchanged—the applicant must show counsel’s representation fell below the objective standard of reasonableness demanded of attorneys in criminal cases. Hill, 474 U.S. at 58–59; accord Thompson v. State, 340 S.C. 112, 115, 531 S.E.2d 294, 296 (2000). An applicant alleging his plea was induced by ineffective assistance of counsel must prove counsel’s advice to plead guilty was not “within the competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.” Hill, 474 U.S. at 56.

The second, or “prejudice” prong, however, “focuses on whether counsel’s constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process.” Id. at 58–59. Specifically, when an applicant claims counsel’s deficient performance caused him to accept a plea, the applicant “must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for [plea] counsel’s [alleged] errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.” Id. at 59. This inquiry “focuses on a defendant’s decisionmaking” and does not turn on the outcome of a defendant’s actual criminal proceeding or potential outcome had a defendant chosen to proceed to trial. Lee v. United States, 582 U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. 1958, 1966 (2017). However, an applicant must convince the court that a decision to reject the plea bargain would have been rational under the circumstances. Padilla, 559 U.S. at 372. The question here is whether the applicant, if correctly informed of circumstances surrounding the plea, would have pleaded guilty—not whether counsel would have still advised him or her to plead guilty. Turner v. State, 335 S.C. 382, 385, 517 S.E.2d 442, 444 (1999).

Surmounting Strickland’s high bar is never an easy task, and the strong societal interest in finality has “special force with respect to convictions based on guilty pleas.” Lee, 582 U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. at 1967 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted); cf. Hill, 474 U.S. at 58 (“[R]equiring a ‘prejudice’ showing from defendants who seek to challenge the validity of their

guilty pleas on the ground of ineffective assistance of counsel ‘will serve the fundamental interest in the finality of guilty pleas.’”). Reviewing “[c]ourts should not upset a plea solely because of post hoc assertions from a defendant about how he would have pleaded but for his attorney’s deficiencies. Lee, 582 U.S. ___, 137 S. Ct. at 1967. Rather, judges should “look to contemporaneous evidence to substantiate a defendant’s expressed preferences. Id. In determining whether a guilty plea was taken in accordance with constitutional standards, the reviewing judge must analyze and consider the entire record, including the transcript of the plea and the evidence presented at the PCR hearing. Harres, 282 S.C. at 134, 318 S.E.2d at 361.

“[I]t is the prerogative of any person to waive his rights, confess, and plead guilty, under judicially defined safeguards, which are adequately enforced.” Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 685, 511 S.E.2d 396, 401 (Ct. App. 1999). Accordingly, because a criminal defendant waives several constitutional rights by pleading guilty or no contest, the Due Process Clause requires that guilty pleas are entered into voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969); Pittman v. State, 337 S.C. 597, 524 S.E.2d 623 (1999).

To be intelligent, a plea must be made by a mentally competent defendant who understands both the charges against him or her and the consequences of his or her plea. Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 748 (1970). To be voluntary, a plea must be free of threats or other coercion that would impermissibly distort the defendant’s choice. Id. at 755; see also United States v. Smith, 440 F.2d 521, 528–529 (7th Cir. 1971) (Stevens, J., dissenting) (explaining voluntariness relates to the trustworthiness of the admission of guilt and binding character of the waiver of the constitutional protections which would be available to the accused if he elected to stand trial).

Before a court can accept a guilty or no contest plea, the defendant must be advised of the

constitutional rights he or she is waiving; the right to a jury trial, the right to confront one's accusers, and the privilege against self-incrimination. Boykin, 395 U.S. at 243. Additionally, in order to knowingly and voluntarily plead guilty or no contest, the defendant must have a full understanding of the consequences of the plea, including the nature and crucial elements of the offense(s); the maximum and any mandatory minimum penalty; and the nature of the constitutional rights being waived. Pittman, 337 S.C. at 599, 524 S.E.2d at 624.

However, it is "well established that a guilty plea is not rendered invalid because it represents a compromise by defendant, thrusts a difficult judgment upon him, or is motivated by fear of greater punishment." United States v. Cox, 464 F.2d 937, 942 (6th Cir. 1972) (citing Brady, 397 U.S. 742). The State may properly encourage guilty or contest pleas either by being more lenient to those who enter such pleas, Brady, 397 U.S. at 750-753, or by increasing the risks of punishment on those who do not. North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 37 (1970). The standard for determining the validity of a guilty plea is "whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant." Id. at 31.

A defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver of statutory or constitutional rights must be established by a complete record, and "may be accomplished by colloquy between court and defendant, between court and defendant's counsel, or both." State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993); see also Wolfe v. State, 326 S.C. 158, 485 S.E.2d 367 (1997) (guilty plea not involuntary where the colloquy demonstrated the trial judge asked defendant twice whether he understood there were no promises and that no sentencing recommendations were binding on the judge). To ensure the defendant understands the consequences of his or her guilty or no contest plea, the trial judge "usually questions the defendant about the facts surrounding

the crime and punishment that could be imposed.” Dover v. State, 304 S.C. 433, 434–35, 405 S.E.2d 391, 392 (1991). However, the trial judge “does not have to direct the defendant’s attention to every consequence of his plea provided the record reveals affirmative awareness of the consequences of a guilty plea.” Carter v. State, 329 S.C. 355, 362, 495 S.E.2d 773, 776 (1998).

The voluntariness of a guilty plea, however, “is not determined by an examination of the specific inquiry made by the sentencing judge alone, but is determined from both the record made at the time of the entry of the guilty plea and the record of the post-conviction hearing.” Harres, 282 S.C. at 133, 318 S.E.2d at 361. In evaluating an allegation on PCR that a guilty or no contest plea was based on inaccurate advice of counsel, the transcript of the guilty plea hearing will be considered to determine whether any possible error by counsel was cured by the information conveyed at the plea hearing. Wolfe, 326 S.C. at 165, 485 S.E.2d at 370; cf. Rayford v. State, 314 S.C. 46, 443 S.E.2d 805 (1994) (finding that, where the transcript of the guilty plea proceeding refuted applicant’s claim that he did not understand the terms of a plea bargain, granting PCR was inappropriate notwithstanding applicant’s claim his lawyer misadvised him).

An applicant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may “only attack voluntary, knowing and intelligent character of the plea by showing that plea counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, the [Applicant] would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.” Roscoe v. State, 345 S.C. 16, 20, 546 S.E.2d 417, 419 (2001).

In the present case, Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof of establishing his counsel was ineffective or his plea was not knowingly, voluntarily, or intelligently entered. The record from the general sessions proceeding and the post-conviction relief proceeding all

establish Petitioner entered a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent plea with the advice of competent counsel, who was thoroughly prepared for trial, challenged the State's evidence through a pre-trial immunity hearing, and ultimately advised Petitioner to accept a favorable plea offer from the State based on the strength of the State's case as evidence through the credible, consistent testimony at the immunity hearing establishing Petitioner as the aggressor and the one in possession of the firearm.

The record clearly establishes counsel was properly prepared for trial. Counsel fully investigated the facts of the case, including attempting to locate any witnesses provided by Petitioner or his family and reviewed all discovery materials with Petitioner. (App. 154-55, 158, 166-67). Counsel met with Petitioner eight times and spoke with him countless times by telephone in preparation for the immunity hearing and trial. (App. 167). Counsel testified he was optimistic about Petitioner's case until the immunity hearing, where the witnesses, which counsel characterized as "very, very credible," consistently testified Petitioner was the armed aggressor and Clea was the unarmed victim of Petitioner's wrath. (App. 150-163). Following the denial of the immunity hearing, counsel testified he advised Petitioner that the witnesses appeared "very, very credible" when testifying he was the aggressor who shot Clea and the case would turn on whether the jury believed these "very, very credible" witnesses or Petitioner, which he believed would likely result in a murder conviction. (App. 150-173). Counsel testified he advised Petitioner it was in his best interest to accept the State's plea offer to the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. (App. 173). Counsel stressed repeatedly that he was thoroughly prepared for trial, liked trying cases, and told Petitioner he was ready to proceed to trial should Petitioner want to do so. (App. 150-73). After these discussions, Counsel credibly testified that Petitioner advised counsel he had not been truthful in their discussions and his testimony at the

immunity hearing. (App. 171). Petitioner similarly apologized to Judge Stillwell during his plea for his testimony at the immunity hearing—an apparent admission he was untruthful while testifying. (App. 88). He also admitted to shooting the gun. (App. 82). Petitioner acknowledged he was satisfied with counsel, understood the sentencing and other consequences of his plea, and wanted to waive his constitutional rights and forgo trial to plead guilty. (App. 71-89).

In its order of dismissal, the post-conviction relief court specifically found counsel's testimony as to his preparation for trial and credible and found counsel was sufficiently prepared and rendered effective assistance of counsel. The court further found the record clearly established Petitioner's plea was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. Ample evidence supports these findings. The post-conviction relief court properly denied relief and this Court should deny certiorari.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.